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QJO DEL GIGANTE AT MANZANO.

The spring rises under the pine trees on the right of the picture and in spring fills
the entire basin above the lower bmnches of the pines. It disappears in the
cauldron in the foreground, reappearing some distunce below there filling Man.-

zano Lake. TWhe spring Is one of wondrous beauty.



THE CITIES THAT DIED OF FEAR

(The Story of the Saline Pueblos)

By Pavn A. F. WALTER.

ECEPTIVE is the country of
the Saline Pueblos. Viewed
from the slopes of the Manzanos on
a spring morning or in late sum-
mer after the rains, it seems a veri-
table paradise. In a sand storm
dense enough to shroud the alkali
lakes or during a blizzard that hides
the massive mountains, it is a land
with cruel fangs in which man is
heavily handicapped in battling
against climatic vicissitudes. Hu-
man wave upon wave has swept
across the valley to the very top of
the lofty western ramparts only to
be beaten back again and again by
relentless nature. KEven now, at this
very moment, science and skill are
combining to reclaim this magic do-
main, but the outcome hangs in the
balance.

Upon mnearer acquaintance, one
discovers it to be a country of sud-
den and sullen moods, a land of an
infinite variety of expression, a re-
gion of contrasts and of weirdness,
a mountain-locked basin whose
story has mever been fully told.
The Spaniards arrived in the mick
of time to flash upon the pages of
written history a passing impres-
sion of the last Pueblo oceupants,
the Piros and the Tiguas. Less
than a hundred years after the first
pale-face invaders had sighted the
house pyramids in the Manzanos,
these had crumbled and beeame
“The Cities That Were Forgotten”
so glowingly pictured by C. F. Lum-
mis in “The Land of Poco Tiempo.”
Romance with more than customary

Tach was a self-goverhing, inde-
pendent commonwealth, compacet and
fortified; a republic within walls; and
as such they seem more fitly entitl-
ed "“cities,” with due insistence upon
the special limitations of the word
here.—Lummis.

haste enveloped them in the haze
of mystery until they became a
sort of Fata Morgana that lured
treasure hunters across the seas
from as far as Brazil and France,
as well as from regions nearby
where people should have known
better. It remained for Adolph A.
F. Bandelier, some thirty years ago,
to separate the truth from the fic-
tion, and with the keen analysis of
a born and trained investigator, to
bare some of the innermost secrets
of “The Cities That Died of Fear,”
communities that  succumbed be-
cause their very preparedness and
thrift attracted the less provident
rovers of the plains.

But even the critical Bandelier
and the cynical Lummis have not
dispelled all of the mystery nor de-
stroyed all of the romance that
clings about the Saline Pueblos. To
this day, the ruins of Abo, Quarai
and Tabira inspire awe and are
counted among the most striking
landmarks of the Southwest. No
one as yet knows how and when
they were founded mnor much of
their story before the coming of the
Spaniards,

The Museum of New Mexico has
acquired title to the site of Quarai
and to one-half of Tabira, just as
it has to Pecos, whose mission
church ruin it has preserved for
future generations. The School of
American Archaeology has made
preliminary excavations at Quarai
and has partially confirmed and par-
tially disproved the conclusions of
Bandelier. One seal has been
broken and the other six* will no
doubt yield to further research by
the School. “Dig and ye shall find,”

Chilili, Tajique, Manzano, Quarai,
Abo, Tenabo and Tabira.




Photograph —by Jesse Nusbaum,

MISSION CHURCH RUIN AT TABIRA, LOOKING TOWARD THE ALTAR

Up to a few years ago, & huge, carved beam rested In the opening shown to the right in the front wall
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is as true among the Pueblo ruins,
as it is at Corinth and at Baalbeck.

The Estancia Valley, situated just
a little north of the geographical
center of New Mexico, is ineluded
in the land of the Saline Pueblos,
for it is there that the salt lakes
that gave the name to the mountain
towns are located. This region is
therefore bounded on the west by
the imposing and beautiful Man-
zano mountains, the main feature
of the landscape for many miles.
These are connected with the geo-
logically remarkable Sandia range
by low, wooded ridges, and on the
south with the Gallinas, by a series
of tablelands and hills, also densely
timbered. But few passes give in-
gress to the valley from the west,
those most traveled being Abo and
Tijeras, and next to these, Hell
Canyon, which lies between them.
Toward the north rise the San Ysi-
dro, San Pedro and Ortiz ranges,
sloping down to the Galisteo Divide,
the mnatural boundary between the
Tanos pueblos of the Galisteo basin
and the domain of the Tigunas and
Piros of the Salines. The eastern
ramparts, the Cerrito del Lobo, and
farther south the Pedernal and Las
Animas hills, with Rattlesnake
Peak, have to the west of them the
curious salt and alkali lagoons,
well-night impassable moats, as in-
hospitable a barrier as is to be found
in the Southwest. To the south lie
the Gallinas hills, with but few
springs and with long distances to
the brackish underground waters.

Viewed from a distance, the west-
ern hills and mountains, attaining
their greatest elevation in the San-
dias and Manzanos, plercing the
clouds at an altitude of 10,600 feet,
are alluringly blue and well propor-
tioned in outline. Strange to say,
the rarity of the atmosphere makes
them seem more distant than they
are.  Approaching their pine and
cedar-clad slopes, they appear still
motre inviting, the country of the
foothills laughing with wild flowers

and verdure, But starting from the
densely wooded mountain flanks and
traveling toward the east, nature as-
sumes a grimmer and grimmer as-
pect, until finally the heaps of bones
of livestock that has perished for
lack of water, become more fre-
quent and human habitations fewer,
as the forbidding shores of the al-
kaline and salt lakes with their mi-
rages and bitter waters are ap-
proached. South of these, lagoons
fill crater-like bowls on the plains,
for all the world like cups set there
by Titans at play, while others
stretch for miles and miles in shal-
low mazes, to the west of the New
Mexico Central Railroad. The
lakes shimmer delusively in the sun
or moonlight, no matter from which
direction one approaches.

Archaeologically, it is only the
foothill region that is of interest.
Little consecutive scientific work has
been done here. In fact, investiga-
tions, outside of the one summer’s
excavations at Quarai by the School
of American Archaeology and a pre-
liminary study of the Piro language
by J. P. Harrington of the School
have not gone beyond desultory re-
connaisances, To the north, in the
(alisteo basin, however, as well as
at Pecos and in the Pajarito, still
farther north, archaeologists have ex-
cavated extensively, have made a
fairly complete and accurate survey
of shrines, mounds and community
and small houses, and have classi-
fied in part the evidences of human
occupations from earliest times to
the present. But in the Saline re-
gion there are still to be found in
isolated canyons, ancient ruins,
shrines and pictographs that have
never been mapped or recorded, and
are being reported in a vague way
from time to time by sheep-herders,
or by the pccasional traveler on the
remote by-ways of the State.

While no epoch-making discov.
eries are likely to be made in this
region, it iz probable that intensive
archaeological research will be re-
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warded with interesting material,
for it is there that the old Pueblo
culture was thrust farthest -east-
ward for any length of time, and it
was there that it was in constant
contact with the Plains Indians of
the Southwest,

Except on the slopes of the Man-
zano$ and Sandias, this entire re-
gion is without perennial streams.
From a few springs in the moun-
tains, rivulets make a brave attempt
to reach the valley but they disap-
pear hefore they have trickled very
far. Dry water courses fill with
rushing waters during or after heavy
storms which at times sweep with
great violence over the Estancia
Valley, but the torrents sink into
the porous soil within a few hours.
After the winter's snows or during
the rainy season, water holes fill up
and shallow lagoons dot the land-
scape, but outside of the alkali
lakes, there are no permanent reser-
voirs, and in years of drouth, the
alkali and salt lakes, too, disappear,
leaving the glistening white lake-
heds baking in the sun.

Not until very recent vears, was
permanent settlément attempted in
the Estancia Valley itself. In an-
cient times, the permanent habita-
tions were only along the rim and
on the slope, while the country in
hetween was tenantless. As far as
known, there are mno prehistoric
mounds in the basin, but only in
the canyons and foothills that
gpread out from it in all directions.
Today, two railroads eross the val-
ley and a third skims along its
southern edge, while settlements
have sprung wp along these rail-
roads, dspecially at Estancia and
Willard, where the subterranean
waler table comes very near to the
surface, At ]“stam;m, as well as
at Antelope Springs and at Man-
Zano, springs fed by the under-
ground drainage from the Manzano
mountains spont to the surface.

Paper No. 8 of the School of Am-
erican Archaelogy.
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Why no settlements were made at
the former two points in ancient
times, is difficult to explain, except
that both sites are much exposed to
attacks from any and every direc-
tion and the Pueblos preferr(.d to
build either in the less accessible
canyons or on the more easily de-
fended hilltops.

It was because of reports of spoli-
ation by treasure-seckers at Tabira,
and by vandals at Quarai, that the
Archaeological Society of New Mex-
ico, in July, 1916, sent several mem-
bers of the staff of the School of
American Archaeology on an over-
land trip to inspect and photograph
the ruins of these pueblos and their
missions, and to report upon the
damage, if any, wrought by tres-
passers. In the party, besides the
writer, were Jesse Nusbanm, archi-
tect and photographer of the School ;
Walter Ufer, the Chicago artist; E.
J. Ward, manager of the Rocky
Mountain Camp Company, Paul A.
F. Walter, Jr., and F. J. Coomer.

1t was in the first days of July,
just hefore the summer rains set in.
that the trip was made. It covered
more than 300 miles along the east-
ern and western slopes of the San-
diag, Manzanos and over the Mesa
Jumanos. Contrary to the impres-
gion given hy Bandelier and Lum-
mis, the portions of Sandoval, Ber-
nalillo, Torrance, Lincoln and So-
rorro  Counties traversed include
some of the most attractive and
beautiful eountry in the Sounihwest.
The highways were found in fair
condition. No more interesting
journey could be outlined in any
portion of the Southwest. One
rpad lies via Lamy, Galisteo,
Moriarty and Ketanecia to Mountain-

air, from which latter point Tabira,

Abo and Cuarai are conveniently
reached. Another highway runs by
way of DBonanza, the Turqumsc
Mines, Cerrillos, the coal camp of
Madrid, the Goid Placers of Golden,
and copper mines and smelters at
San Pedro, to Tijeras; while the



Photograph by Jesse Nusbawm,
ABO MISSION RUIN, DOOMED TO DESTRUCTION.

For the lack of a few thousand dellars, this mognificent and altogethor lovely mission church ruin, with a background of al-
most three hundred vears, is nbout to crumble into a heap of stones, like the heaps on all sides of I Bullt by the de.
voted Pueblo women, it would be a fitting memorial to the womanhood of that day, if the women's clubs of New Mexico
were to gather funds to strensthen and preserve the walls, just ag the School of American Archaeology has done with
the missgion chureh ruins ot Pecos,
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third road plunges over La Bajada
hill in winding switchbacks into the
Rio Grande Valley, skirte L.a Ba-
jada, Santo Domingo, Bernalillo,
Sandia and Albuquerque, and thence
climbs into Tijeras Canyon. Each
road has a charm of its own and
permits of easy side trips to such
interesting points as the San Cris-
tobal ruing and pictographs, to the
wildly beautiful forests on the east-
ern slope of the Sandias, to partial-
ly excavated community houses and
villages, to Indian pueblos, old mis-
sion churches and ruins and Span-
ish Plazas.

TIJERAS AND 1T8 CANON.

Tijeras, at the foot of the San-
dias, is as charmingly located as a
picture-book Swiss village. High
ahove it, on a steep slope, lies Whit-
comb Springs, nestling amidst ever-
greens and aspens, a popular gum-
mer resort that commands a fine
view of Tijeras Canyon and the
country toward Santa Fe. The
stream that tears down the grim
canyon is constantly frustrating the
efforts to improve the highway that
leads up to Escobosa and thence to
the Saline pueblos, and has carved
the stupendous walls of the Titanic
chagm,

It is almost a continuous climb
from Tijeras canyon to Escobosa.
The road strikes across and along
wooded ridges, a typical New Mex-
ico timber country, cut over years
ago, but in which nature is reforest-
ing the slopes with astonishing re-
cuperative powers.

“Lovely!” exclaims the tourist, as
he scans the mountain and forest
vistas that unroll before him. Pine,
spruce and oak, grouped in park-
like effect, that continues practical-
ly the entire length of the journey
to Tabira and even beyond, but with
constant changes in flora according
to altitude and season. The journey
was toward the close of a severe
drouth, yet the turf was green, the
flowers brilliant, There were acres
and acres of the glowing Indian

paintbrush, red as the sunset, miles
of purple verbena, and scores of va-
rieties of other wild flowers. In the
open spaces, cacti lifted their arms
four to eight feet high, for all the
world like candelabra, with clusters
of magnificent red blossoms at the
tips of each of the many arms.
Every few miles a running stream,
or a gushing spring, in marsh or

aneadow, revealed one aspect of New

Mexico that the casual traveler hard-
ly suspects as he speeds through the
state in a Pullman car. The Ti-
jeras ranger station, most romantic-
ally located, is a reminder that a
great portion of the Sandias and
nearly all of the Manzanos are in
Uncle Sam’s Manzano Forest,
CHILILI AND CARNUE.

From KEscobosa to Chilili is a
scant five miles, but along the high-
way are encountered some of the
steepest climbs and fairest scenery
of the entire trip. Modern Chilili
is sitnated on the north bluff of a
stream that disappears a short dis-
tance below. In the village itself
there is no vestige of the ancient
pueblo, but on the older site the
foundations of the mission church
were traced recently by N. C. Nel-
son, of the American Museum of
Natural History. Chilili was men-
tioned as a “captain” of a pueblo
by Onate in 1598, and Benavides re-
fers to it in 1630 as a mission dedi-
cated to Nuestra Sefiora de Navidad.

Frederick Webh Hodge sums up
the authorities on Chilili in his
Handbook of American Indians:

“In this church were interred the
remains of Fray Alonzo Peinado
(after 1617), who went to New Mex-
fco about 1608, and to whom was at-
tributed the”conversion of the inhabit-
ants and the erection of the chapel.
The village was abandoned, accord-
ing to Bandelier, between 1669 and
1676, on account of persistent hostil-
ity of the Apache, the inhabitants re-
tiring mostly to the Tigua villages on
the Rio Grande, but some joined the
Mansos at El Paso. According to
Vetancourt the pueblo contained 500
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Drawn by K, M. Chapman,
THE COUNTRY OF THE SALINE PUEBLOS.




THE CITIES THAT DIED OF FEAR 21

Piros in 1680, and Benavides referred
to it as a Tompiros pueblo 50 years
earlier; but Bandelier believes these
statements to be in error, since the
northern pueblos of the Salinas be-
longed to the Tigua.”

Says Bandelier:

“The former Tigua pueblo of Chilili
stood on the west side of the creek,
but its site is now built over, an
unly a few traces of the small chapel
dedicated to the Nativity of the Vir-
gin are visible on the east bank. The
inhabitants of Chilili say that meta-
tes and arrow heads are still occa-
sionally found. 1 noticed some black
and red potsherds, and later 1 saw a
handsomely decorated water urn, well
preserved and ornamented with sym-
bols of the rain, the tadpole and of
fish, painted black on cream-colored
ground, which had been exhumed at
Chilili. It is in possession of the Hon.
R. E. Twitchell of Santa Fe, The
brook running through Chilili extends
only a mile beyond that hamlet.
further down it sinks, like all the
water courses that descend from the
Manzano chain towards the Salinas.
These constantly fill up their own
beds with drift and sand, and thus.
in course of time, gradually recede.
Years ago, so old residents affirm,
Jhis brook had permanent water for
one mile and a half farther east. It
is well to note such local peculiarities,
for they tend to explain changes of
locality of Indian villages in former
times,

“The Sierra de Gallego, also called
Sierra de Carnue, divides Chilili from
Han Pedro toward the wnorth. The
Carnue range is not very high and
pme forests cover its slopes, reach-
ing to the crests and summits. In
ancient times these pine-clad heights
must have besn solitudes as they are
today. The old grant of Carnue men-
tions a ruin ‘n the mountains, west
of the Spanish settlement, that was
founded and soon abandoned towards
the end of the past century. The
grant of Carnue was made by Gov-
ernor Tomas Velez Cachupin in 1763.
In 1771 the settlers petitioned for
leave to abandon the place, which had
become untenable on aceount of the
Apaches. That ruin is called las rui-
nas antiguas del pueblo oue llaman
de S. Autonio. While descending
from the crest of Carpnue, the trav-
eller obtains an ocecasional glimpse of
the region to the east and south, @
vast expanse of singular bleakness.

Desolate plains spread to the east;
dismal hills border them along the
horizon; only two or three springs
rise to the surface between Galis-
teo and the salt marshes. One of
these bears the name of Ojo del Ci-
belo (Buffalo Springs), 57 miles south
of Galisteo. The other springs are
Ojo del Berrendo (Antelope Springs),
41 miles, and Ojo Hediondo (Stinking
Spring) 27 1-2 miles south of Galis-
teo.”

TREASURE HUNTERS,

. It is at Chilili that one hears for
the first time the stories of buried
treasures and treasure-hunting ex-
peditions.  Less than two decades
ago, so the visitor is seriously in-
formed, a Brazilian sueceeded in
lifting the hidden gold® underneath
the altar of the old church. For
weeks he had emploved men digging
within the ruins of the sanctuary.
Then came the hour when he an-
nounced that the following day he
would unearth the treasure and
would divide it with the people.
During that night, however, hig men
made away with it. The people of
Chilili sought to wreak vengeance
on the Brazilian, who remained, but
the proposed lynching was averted,
The Brazilian subsequently had »
number of thrilling adventures in
the Manzanos, which are related
with much detail and great gusto
iy the old timers,

Licunt. J. W. Abert in hisg oflicial
report in 1847 says:

“Two miles further brought us to
the deserted village of Chilili; from
this place the road continues on in
the course to the salt lakes which are
fifteen miles distant. The town of
Chilili is one of modern construction;
the walls of the houses are formed by
placing logs wupright in the ground,
and plastering them over with mud.
The roofs of the houses are flat. and
cemposed of the same materials. The
town was deserted some years ago,
on account of the disappearance of
the stream that supplied the place

“Indeed it is very doubtful if the
natives even in Benavides' time, knew
what gold was."—F, W. Hodge.
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Drawn by K. M. Chapman,
TABIRA, THE TOWN OF MYTHICAL [TREASURE.

It was the most southern of the Saline Pueblos and in direct contact with the land of the Jumanos.
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with water. Part of the inhabitants
have formed a new town higher up
on the course of this fickle stream.”

Benavides in 1630 wrote of Chi-
Jili as the “first pueblo” of the Tom-
piros nation to which he ascribed
“fourteen or fifteen pueblos, in
which there must be more than ten
thousand souls, with six monasteries
and very good churches; all are con-
verted, and for the most part bap-
tized, and others are being catech-
ized and taught, and with their train-
ing schools of all trades, as in other
pueblos. The land is little fruitful,
by reason of the many cold spells
and the few waters. In this province
are the splendid salines, ten leagues
from the mines of Socorro.”

TAJIQUE AND TORREOXN.

From Chilili to Tajique the way
geems long, although the scenery is
not uninteresting. Occagionally, the
traveler gets glimpses of the vast
expanse of level land that stretches
toward the east, while the Laguna
del Perro (Dog Lake) glistens in
the sun and a mirage shimmers be-
tween the horizon and the ecirro-
cumulus cloud masses, Tajique it-
self is a village in open formation
and like Torreon, a few miles be-
yond, which it resembles, is not near
as picturesque as Tijeras, Manzano
or Punta de Agua. Tajique fur-
nished a refuge for the inhabitants
of Quarai in 1674, but a year later,
Tajique, too, had to be abandoned.
There is nothing left of the original
town or church but a mound over-
grown with vegetation. .

Of Tajique, Lieut. Abert says:

“Hunting below the town without
finding water, we were forced to en-
camp higher up on the stream, where
we found an abumndant supply. At
this town we met Mr. E. J. Vaughan,
a Missourian. He had, he said, been
extremely anxious as to his safety
in remaining here, for an insurrec-
tionary feeling was rife through the
whole country, particularly at this
out-of-the-way place; and this feeling
wes not a little excited by messages
from persons in Chihuahua, stating
that they were about to come up by
this road, with 11,000 men, and with

the assistance of the New Mexicans
would destroy all the detestable her-
etics, And he accidentally heard
some of the inhabitants of this town
arranging the partition they would
make pf his goods; for he was here
trading with the people for corn, and
the wagons we saw yesterday were
some that he had sent on to Santa
Fe.* Mr. Vaughan said he had spent
thirteen years in this country. He
gave me some interesting accounts of
the customs of the Pueblos, and tells
me that they have a dance, called
Montezume’s dance, which is danced
around the pole. He also stated that
when he first came to this country
that the ruins of Pecos were inhabit-
ed, and that he had been there and
seen the sacred fire.”

It was at Tajique, on July 16,
1659, that occurred the death of
Fray Geronimo de la Llana, who
built the mission at Cuarai. Just
one hundred years later, the remains
were taken up and transferred to
the parish church at Santa Fe and
are therefore within the cathedral
walls, Bandelier has left us a sketch
of the life of the Franciscan, telling
also of the discovery of his last rest-
ing place in the Cathedral. He
says:

TWO NOBLE FRANCISCANS.

*On the Znd of June, 1880, while
preparing to remove the altar of the
old cathedral of Santa Fe, prelimin-
ary to closing the rear portion of the
present edifice, Father Rolly (lately
deceased) and Father Gatignol (cur-
ate at Belen) noticed, in the wall of
the old structure, two ancient inscrip-
tions. TUpon deciphering them they
proved to indicate the place where
two cysfs had been immured, each of
which enclosed the remains of a
Franciscan monk from the 17th

*According to a deposition by the
last survivor of the Pueblos who went
from Pecos to Jemez, about eighty
yeurs ago, the sacred fire was guarded
by eight men, who remained in the
kiva an entire year, being relieved by
another detachment of eight on New
Year's Day. Quite often, one or more
o? the eight succumbed during the
yvear, and according to the deposition,
the survivors came out weak and tot-
tering, and were honored with a pro-
cession around the pueblo.






